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In these consolidated appeals, R chard A Quinn and Scott W
Tucker contest the underlying sumrary judgnent, injunction, and
ot her aspects of the judgnent entered against them arising out of
their investnment solicitation and related activities wth United

Energy Partners, Inc. Essentially for the reasons stated by the

"Pursuant to 5TH QR R 47.5, the court has determ ned that
this opinion should not be published and is not precedent except
under the Ilimted circunstances set forth in 5THQR R 47.5. 4.



district court, as briefly discussed below, the judgnent is
AFFI RVED.
| .

Qui nn was, anong ot her things, chief executive officer and 90
percent sharehol der of United Energy, which was in the business of
drilling oil and gas wells; Tucker was executive vice president and
ten percent shareholder. Quinn and Tucker sold working interests
in United Energy wells to at least 285 investors, raising
approximately $7.5 mllion.

The Securities and Exchange Comm ssion filed this action
agai nst United Energy, Quinn, and Tucker in 1998, claimng know ng
fal se and m sl eadi ng statenents in selling securities, inviolation
of Section 10(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, 15 U. S.C
8§ 78b, and Rule 10b-5 thereunder, and Section 17(a) of the
Securities Act of 1933, 15 U.S.C. § 77q.

Qui nn and Tucker were charged with m srepresenting t he uses of
investors’ funds by failing to disclose, anong other things, that
hal f of the noney raised was used for United Energy’s operations
(despite statenents in the offering nenoranda that all funds raised
woul d be spent on drilling).

The district court: appointed a special naster to represent
Uni ted Energy; granted partial summary judgnent for the SEC on its
clai ns agai nst Quinn and Tucker but took no action on the clains

agai nst United Energy; enjoined Quinn and Tucker from further



violation of the securities | aws; ordered themto disgorge, jointly
and severally, the $7.5 mllion; awarded the SEC pre-judgment
interest of approximately $2 million; and i mposed a $110, 000 ci vil
penal ty each agai nst Qui nn and Tucker.

1.

Qinn and Tucker challenge the summary judgnent, the
i njunction, the disgorgenent order, the pre-judgnent interest, and
the penalty.

A

A summary judgnent is reviewed de novo, applying the sane
standard as the district court. E.g., Daniels v. Gty of
Arlington, 246 F.3d 500, 502 (5th Gr.), cert. denied, 534 U. S. 951
(2001). Such judgnent is proper if the novant denonstrates there
is no mterial fact issue and that it is entitled to a judgnent as
a matter of law Feb. R CQv. P. 56(c); e.g., Anderson v. Liberty
Lobby, Inc., 477 U. S. 242, 248 (1986); Crawford v. Fornosa Pl astics
Corp., 234 F.3d 899, 902 (5th Cir. 2000).

The summary judgnent was proper. For exanple, the offering
menor anda represented that the total funds rai sed woul d be spent on
conpletion of the wells and did not disclose that part of those
funds would be given to United Energy or to its enployees as
comi ssi on. Al though Quinn and Tucker dispute raising $7.5

mllion, they admtted doing so in their answer.



Qui nn and Tucker contend the SEC was not entitled to judgnment
because the undi sputed facts did not establish scienter, but it is
obvious that the summary judgnent record showed they acted with
intent to defraud. For exanple, they were aware that the stated
drilling costs were double the anticipated costs.

B

Qui nn and Tucker’s being enjoined fromfurther violations of
the federal securities laws is proper if “the inferences flow ng
fromdefendant’s prior illegal conduct, viewed in |light of present
circunstances, betoken a ‘reasonable [|ikelihood” of future
transgressions”. SECv. Zale Corp., 650 F.2d 718, 720 (5th Cr.),
cert. denied, 454 U S. 1124 (1981). Injunctive relief is reviewed
for abuse of discretion. E g., SECv. Blatt, 583 F.2d 1325, 1334
(5th Gir. 1978).

There was no abuse of discretion. The district court ruled
that Quinn and Tucker know ngly violated the securities |aws and
found that Quinn stated his intention to return to the securities
busi ness (even t hough Qui nn asserts he would only do so if he could
be “in conpliance”).

C.

Concerning the $7.5 mllion disgorgenent order, Quinn and
Tucker cl ai mdisgorgenent should i nstead be based only on the much
smal | er anount they received through their enploynent with United

Ener gy. Claimng they do not have sufficient funds to disgorge



$7.5 million, Quinn and Tucker further contend that ordering them
to do so is a penalty, contrary to the purpose of disgorgenent.
They also claim that the district court: shoul d have offset
agai nst the disgorgenent order the anobunts spent on legitinate
busi ness expenses; and should not have ordered them to di sgorge
funds jointly and severally, because the anmount each received from
their involvenent with United Energy was clearly determ ned. The
equi tabl e decision to order disgorgenent is reviewed for abuse of
discretion. E g., SECv. AMX, Int’'l, Inc., 7 F.3d 71, 73 (5th Cr.
1993).

There was no abuse of discretion. The $7.5 mllion raised is
a reasonabl e estimate of the profits received by fraud. Wat Quinn

and Tucker received fromtheir enploynent wth United Energy i s not

determnative; |likewise, their inability to pay is irrelevant.
Di sgorgenent deprives wongdoers of ill-gotten gains; and a person
remai ns unjustly enriched by what was illegally received, whether

he retains the proceeds of his w ongdoing. E.g., SEC v. Banner
Fund Int’l, 211 F.3d 602, 617 (D.C. G r. 2000).

In addition, although some courts have offset legitinmate
busi ness expenses against a disgorgenent anount, e.g., SEC v.
Thomas Janmes Associ ates, Inc., 738 F. Supp. 88, 95 (WD.N. Y. 1990),
“t he overwhel m ng weight of authority hold[s] that securities |aw
violators may not offset their disgorgenent liability with business

expenses”. SEC v. Kenton Capital, Ltd., 69 F. Supp.2d 1, 16



(D.D.C. 1998) (citing SEC v. Hughes Capital Corp., 917 F. Supp
1080, 1086 (D.N.J. 1996), aff'd 124 F.3d 449 (3d Cr. 1997)).
Mor eover, as the SEC acknow edges, Quinn and Tucker are to receive
a set-off for anounts repaid to investors or collected by the
special master. Lastly, joint and several liability is appropriate
insecurities cases where, as here, individuals collaborate or have
close relationships in engaging in illegal conduct. E.g., SECv.
Hughes Capital Corp., 124 F.3d 449, 455 (3d G r. 1997).
D

Qui nn and Tucker next chall enge the pre-judgnent interest on
t he di sgorgenent anount, claimng: they did not have use of the
full $7.5 mllion and relinquished their assets to the special
master; there was no wonged party to conpensate through such
interest; and the SEC did not settle with Quinn and Tucker despite
their willingness to do so. An award of pre-judgnent interest is
reviewed for abuse of discretion. E.g., SEC v. First Jersey
Securities, Inc., 101 F. 3d 1450, 1476 (2d Cr. 1996), cert. deni ed,

522 U.S. 812 (1997); Wolf v. Frank, 477 F.2d 467, 479 (5th Gr.),

cert. denied, 414 U. S. 975 (1973).

There was no abuse of discretion. For exanple, the court, in
its discretion, reduced the I RS underpaynent rate of interest by
half fromthe date when Qui nn and Tucker turned over their assets
to the special master; and the parties’ not reaching settlenent

does not bear on the award.



E

Finally, Quinn and Tucker contest the inposition of third-tier
civil nonetary penalties of $110,000 agai nst each of them  Such
penalties are proper if: the violation involved “fraud, deceit,
mani pul ati on, or deliberate or reckless disregard of a regulatory
requi renent”; and “such violation directly or indirectly resulted
in substantial |osses or created a significant risk of substanti al
| oss to other persons”. 15 U.S.C. § 78u(d)(3)(B)(iii); 17 CF.R
8§ 200. 1001 (raising the maxi mumpenalty per violationto $110, 000).
The district court found both requirements net. The inposition of
civil penalties is reviewed for abuse of discretion. R & W
Techni cal Serv. Ltd. v. CFTC, 205 F.3d 165, 177 (5th Cr. 2000).

Qui nn and Tucker contend: no investor suffered substanti al
| osses and any risk of loss from the failure of the wells was
di scl osed; they did not receive the full $7.5 nmillion they were
ordered to disgorge, therefore a civil fine anmpbunts to a double
penal ty; and, under the facts of this case, the penalty serves no
public interest. 1In the light of the district court’s findings,
t here was no abuse of discretion.

L1l

Essentially for the reasons stated by the district court, the

judgnent is

AFFI RVED.



